NO. 48235-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON.

Appellant,

v.

RICKO FERNANDEZ EASTERLING,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Superior Court No. 15-1-00127-1

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

KELLIE L. PENDRAS **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

Mark W. Muenster 1010 Esther St Vancouver WA 98660-3028

e-mail: markmuen@ix.netcom.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it found that the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Department of Harrison Hospital (SANE) acted on behalf of the government in child sexual assault cases.
- 2. The trial court erred when it found that EEK's SANE exam was exculpatory.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether it was governmental mismanagement for the State to not request a SANE exam directly from the SANE program when SANE is an independent organization whose documents are not within the possession and control of the State?
- 2. Whether the late disclosure of the SANE exam was prejudicial to Easterling when the results of the exam were not exculpatory and therefore there was no impact on his right to a fair trial?
- 3. Whether the trial court's dismissal of all counts was manifestly unreasonable where it was based on erroneous findings of mismanagement and prejudice and was an extraordinary remedy outside the range of other available choices?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Ricko Fernandez Easterling was charged by first amended

information filed in Kitsap County Superior Court with three counts of first-degree rape of a child of 10-year-old EEK and two counts of first-degree rape of a child of her sister, nine-year-old ALK. CP 6-10. Easterling was also charged with one count for each girl of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 10-12. The girls referred to Easterling as "Dad." CP 4.

Trial began on September 28, 2015, with opening statements occurring September 30, 2015. RP (9/30) 2-6. The next day, Easterling informed the court that Marian Kilby, the mother of the two victims (and his girlfriend), told him that morning she believed a sexual assault examination had been done on both girls. RP (10/1) 3. She provided Easterling with records from Peninsula Community Health Services that indicated a physical had been done on both girls on February 12, 2015 and a sexual assault examination was scheduled for the next day. RP (10/1) 4-5. The State again asserted that to its knowledge, exams had not been done and it had not been provided a rape kit or a SANE report, but that its office was looking further into the matter based on Ms. Kilby's claim. RP (10/1) 3-4.

Later that same day, the State informed the court it had spoken with Kate Espy, a SANE nurse at Harrison Medical Center. RP (10/1) 10. Ms. Espy confirmed that both girls had undergone exams on February 13,

2015; copies of both exams were provided to Easterling and the Court. RP (10/1) 10-11. Easterling made an oral motion for dismissal of the charges pursuant to criminal rules (CrR) 4.7 and 8.3(b) and *Brady*. RP (10/1) 11. The trial court permitted both sides to brief the issue and set a hearing for October 5, 2015. RP (10/1) 11-15.

At the hearing, in addition to the parties' briefing, the court considered testimony from Detective William Schaibly and Jolene Culbertson, the SANE nurse who had conducted the exam of both girls. RP(10/5) 5-19; 21-42.

Detective Schaibly was assigned to investigate Easterling's case. After watching the forensic interviews of both girls at the Kitsap County Special Assault Center on February 12, 2015, Schaibly placed them into protective custody with Child Protective Services and recommended that both get SANE exams. RP (10/5) 6-7. He did not contact Harrison Medical Center to determine if the exams were ever done and stated that normally, he would be notified if one had been conducted. RP (10/5) 7. Schaibly said that the State had asked him a few weeks prior to trial whether or not a SANE exam had been done on either girl. RP (10/5) 8-9. He told the State at that time that he was under the impression that no exams had been done. RP (10/5) 8-9. He therefore did not make any

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

independent inquiry to SANE after his conversation with the State. RP (10/5) 16. It was not until the proceedings began in October that he realized he had been mistaken during that conversation with the State—when he said that there were no SANE exams done, he was speaking about a different case. RP (10/5) 9.

Jolene Culbertson, the SANE coordinator at Harrison Medical Center, testified that she was not employed by either law enforcement or the prosecutor's office, and that her first duty was to her patients. RP (10/5) 21.

Culbertson explained the SANE process. When a child comes in for an exam she first interviews the adult to obtain the child's medical history and a brief synopsis of what had happened to the child. RP (10/5) 23-24. She next does a physical exam on the child before moving on to the genital exam. RP (10/5) 23. If a person refuses a genital exam, then one is not done. RP (10/5) 26-27.

Culbertson did examinations on both of the girls. ALK declined the genital exam while EEK participated in all parts. RP (10/5) 27-31. ALK's demeanor during the physical portion of the exam was tearful and anxious. RP (10/5) 28. Because no genital exam had been done on ALK, Ms. Culbertson was not able to reach any findings or conclusions. RP (10/5) 28.

EEK's genital exam was characterized as a "negative exam" which did not mean that nothing had happened, but that nothing was noted. RP (10/5) 34. Culbertson found no scarring or acute injury. RP (10/5) 33. She stated that this finding could mean one of three things: nothing happened and therefore there was nothing to be seen; something happened and it healed without forming any scars; and something happened, but there was no injury. RP (10/5) 33-34.

Culbertson was aware that Kitsap Special Assault Investigations and Victims Services (SAIVS), a volunteer organization run through the Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office, had a written protocol. RP (10/5) 35. Nevertheless, SANE had its own protocol that it was required to follow. RP (10/5) 35. The SANE protocol consisted of statewide guidelines and was not written by SAIVS. RP (10/5) 35. The SANE protocol governed when SANE exams were done, how they were done, and who they were done on. RP (10/5) 35.

Culbertson was part of a team separate and apart from SAIVS that did medical examinations to determine that the children were okay. RP (10/5) 36. Harrison Medical Center's only role was to provide sexual assault exams, and that it was the role of others to determine whether or not that information would be used in a prosecution. RP (10/5) 36. All patients, even those that underwent SANE examinations, had privacy

interests and before any exam could be released, the patient (or their guardian) had to sign a consent form. RP (10/5) 22. Reports were not provided to law enforcement or the prosecutor's office in every case where an exam was conducted. RP (10/5) 37. If law enforcement or CPS was not involved, Harrison Medical Center did not routinely or automatically send copies of records out. RP (10/5) 41-42

The SAIVS protocol was created to provide guidance in the investigation of particular cases, including child sexual assault cases. CP 90. In its introductory statement, the SAIVS protocol explains its purposes:

These protocol[s] are not intended as legal authority for the admissibility or non-admissibility of evidence developed in the course of an investigation. These protocol[s] should not be used as the basis for the dismissal of any criminal charges arising from a report...of child sexual abuse.

CP 90. The protocol defines the key participants in these investigations, noting that any forensic medical examinations are referred to Harrison Medical Center's SANE program. CP 94. The primary purpose of a SANE evaluation is to "provide medical care to the patient/victim. Where appropriate, forensic evidence will be observed, documented, and collected." CP 102. Information collected by any of the covered agencies is to be shared "pursuant to the guidelines set forth in these protocol[s], according to each agency's departmental policies, Kitsap

County's CPOD procedures and as controlled by statute." ² CP 107.

After hearing argument from both sides, the trial court orally dismissed all counts. RP (10/5) 63-69. The court subsequently issued a written ruling. CP 51-60.

B. FACTS OF THE OFFENSES

On February 2, 2015, ALK and EEK disclosed to their therapist that they had played a secret game with Easterling of strip poker using Uno cards. CP 4. Both girls were subsequently interviewed at the Kitsap County Special Assault Unit. CP 4.

EEK disclosed that she and her sister ALK had played strip poker on numerous occasions with Easterling. CP 4. According to EEK, if you won a hand, then you would be able to tell the other players which items of clothing to remove. CP 4. EEK stated that during several games, both she and ALK ended up completely nude. CP 4.

ALK disclosed that she and Easterling would also play a game called "naked horsey." CP 5. During the game, Easterling would have her get on her hands and knees with her pants down and he would stick his thumb in her butt like a tail. CP 5. ALK said it hurt when he would go deeper, and that it happened several times with both her and EEK. CP 5. She also stated that when they played this game, Easterling would ask her

² COPD refers to "Collaboration, Preservation, Observation, & Documentation." CP 93.

if she wanted him to put his "wee wee" in her butt. CP 5. ALK stated that she also witnessed Easterling stick his thumb in EEK's butt on several occasions. CP 5. The incidents occurred at their house in Port Orchard between August 2014 and February 2015. CP 4-5.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DISMISS ALL **AUBSE** CHARGES WAS Α CLEAR OF DISCRETION BECAUSE WAS THERE NO **GOVERNMENT MISMANGEMENT** AND NO PREJUDICE TO EASTERLING FOR THE LATE DISCLOSURE OF THE SANE EXAM

The trial court clearly erred when it dismissed the charges in this case pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) and *Brady v. Maryland*. The standard of review is manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). "Discretion is abused when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds, or for unreasonable reasons." State v. Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d 822, 830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). In State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) the Supreme Court discussed the manifest abuse of discretion standard in the context of a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss:

A decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard. A decision is manifestly unreasonable if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts adopts a view that no reasonable person would take, and arrives at a decision outside the range of acceptable

choices.

Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 654 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The trial court first found that EEK's SANE report and the inferences that could be drawn it were exculpatory as to Counts I, II, III and VI. RP (10/5) 64. The court further found that the report was exculpatory in that "the jury could determine that there is a reason to doubt the allegations of [EEK] and, therefore, doubt all of the allegations pending against Mr. Easterling." RP (10/5) 64. The trial court applied the correct legal standard, noting that the defendant must show two things: arbitrary action or government misconduct and prejudice that affects a defendant's right to speedy trial. RP (10/5) 66. However, the court trial court's decision was manifestly unreasonable because it adopted a view no reasonable person would take, leading to a decision that was outside the range of acceptable choices available in this case.

1. The trial court erred when it found that it was governmental mismanagement for the State not to request SANE examinations directly from SANE because SANE is an independent organization and does not investigate or work with the State in investigating child sexual abuse cases.

The State has the duty to provide as discovery "material and information within the knowledge, possession, and control of members of the prosecuting attorney's staff." CrR 4.7(a)(4). The SANE exams were

in the possession and control of Harrison Medical Center, an independent organization. The trial court erred when it found the State had mismanaged the case by not requesting the SANE exams directly from Harrison Medical Center.

Central to the trial court's ruling that there was governmental mismanagement was its finding that while SANE was not a department of the prosecutor's office or law enforcement, it had an agreed to be part of the SAIVS protocol therefore making it part of the "investigative team" for child sexual abuse cases. RP (10/5) 65. The trial court determined that as the only provider of SANE exams in Kitsap County, the department worked so closely with the prosecutor's office that it was acting on the government's behalf in both the general sense and in this particular case. RP (10/5) 65. Bit found that because the SAIVS protocol directs SANE to release any exams to law enforcement and the prosecutor's office, the State had an obligation to search out information from a party who was working in conjunction with the government, and it failed to do so here by not inquiring directly of SANE. RP (10/5) 64-5, 68. These findings mischaracterize the SAIVS protocol as well as the role SANE plays in the care of sexual assault victims.

First, the SAIVS protocol clearly states that it is not intended to provide legal authority or to be the basis of the dismissal of a case. CP 90.

Yet that it is precisely how the trial court used the protocol. Although SANE is referenced throughout the protocol as the provider of medical exams, there is nothing in the protocol that makes SANE part of the investigative team and therefore a governmental player.

The primary purpose of the medical exam is to provide medical care to the patient; prosecution of these cases is a secondary consideration. CP 102. Culbertson was clear that SANE's duty is to all patients and their privacy interests outweigh the release of any information to law enforcement. See CP 103-05. The protocol recognizes that any release of information is governed not just by its guidelines, but also by any statutes that may govern a particular agency. CP 107. SANE has its own guidelines and statewide protocol that it must follow in every case, and sexual assault cases are not an exception to that rule. The SANE protocol would certainly take precedence over the SAIVS protocol.

Ms. Culbertson testified that the purpose of both the physical and genital exam is to make sure the patient is okay. RP (10/5) 26. The patient decides what parts of the exam he or she will participate in. RP (10/5) 27. Additionally, if a patient is of post-pubertal age, she is offered Plan B for pregnancy prophylactic and medications to help prevent sexually transmitted diseases. RP (10/5) 27. It is clear that the focus of SANE is on the health and welfare of the patient and not every patient

who has a SANE exam is part of a criminal investigation. SANE is not acting as part of the investigative team or on behalf of the government when it performs these exams.

The trial court's finding is also inconsistent with legal precedent. Although there is no Washington case law directly on point, guidance can be found in two out-of-state cases. In *Lavallee v. Coplan*, 374 F.3d 41 (1st Cir. 2004), the lower court ordered the New Hampshire Division of Children, Youth and Families (DCYF) to turn over files related to its investigation involving the defendant. After the case had gone to the jury, but prior to a verdict, DCYF notified the prosecutor that some materials had been accidentally left out of the file. *Id.* at 43. The Court held that these files were not the type covered under the *Brady* doctrine and were clearly not files within the prosecutor's control:

[W]hile prosecutors may be held accountable for information known to police investigators, ... DCYF is neither the police nor the equivalent of the police assisting in the prosecution. DCYF was not the prosecuting agency and is independent of both the police department and the prosecutor's office.

Id. at 44-45. That same logic can be applied to the present case. Contrary to the trial court's finding, SANE's primary purpose is to provide medical care to victims of sexual assault. It does not act on behalf of the prosecutor's office or a police agency; rather, it is an independent organization conducting exams on anyone seeking one, not just those

patients that are part of a criminal investigation. Any materials within its possession are not within the State's control for purpose of a *Brady* analysis. In fact, if a patient chooses not to sign a consent form, then neither law enforcement nor the State would be entitled to the results of that exam.

In *People v. Uribe*, 162 Cal. App. 4th 1457, 76 Cal. Rptr. 3d 829 (2008), the court did find that the individual who conducted the examinations of sexual assault victims was acting on behalf of the government when it performed the exam of the victim. *Uribe*, 162 Cal. App. 4th at 1481. The court based its conclusion on several factors: in California, a sexual assault response team (SART) exam is initiated by police or social services; the examiner routinely takes a history from the investigative officer; and a "major purpose of the examination was to determine whether the allegation could be corroborated by physical findings." *Uribe*, 162 Cal. App. 4th at 1463-79. Moreover, the statutory scheme specifically addressed the function of SART exams in conjunction with criminal investigations. Although not controlling, *Uribe* provides guidance for courts seeking to classify SANE as a government actor and is clearly distinguishable from the present case.

Here, the primary purpose of the SANE examination is for the health of the patient. As Culbertson explained, her primary duty is to her

patient and the medical examinations are done to make sure a child is okay. RP (10/5) 21, 36. All patients who undergo a SANE exam have a privacy interest that can only be bypassed when a medical release is signed. RP (10/5) 22.

Unlike in *Uribe*, Culbertson is not mandated by law to automatically send a SANE exam to law enforcement. To the contrary, of the patient does not sign a consent form, the results will not be released. Additionally, any information about the child or the incident is obtained from the adult who brings the child in—law enforcement is not present at the exams. RP (10/5) 24.

Moreover, SANE exam results are not automatically sent to law enforcement because not all SANE exams are done for a criminal investigation—law enforcement is not always involved when an individual undergoes a SANE exam. RP (10/5) 21, 41. Culbertson made it clear that her role in SANE is separate and apart from what the prosecutor's office or law enforcement does—though SANE is included as part of the SAIVS protocol, the protocol followed by Harrison Medical Center and the SANE program is their own and that takes priority. RP (10/5) 39-40. SAIVS may certainly establish protocol that it wishes to be followed in the investigation of child sexual assault cases, but it is not controlling law and is subject to limitations.

SANE is not a governmental entity and the State was therefore not obligated to seek out information from it. Nor was it mismanagement by the State to ask its lead detective to determine whether or not SANE exams had been done on either victim; the usual process was to have SANE reports in active cases sent to the investigating law enforcement agency. Therefore, it was a manifest abuse of discretion for the trial court to find that there was governmental mismanagement. But even if the Court were to make that same finding, Easterling cannot meet the second part of the test.

2. The trial court erred when it found Easterling was prejudiced by the late disclosure of the sane exam because the exam was not exculpatory and the record does not support a finding of actual prejudice.

For a case to be dismissed pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) or CrR 4.7, a defendant must show that he has been prejudiced by the prosecutor's actions. *State v. Cannon*, 130 Wn.2d 313, 328, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996). A defendant must show actual prejudice; the mere possibility of prejudice is not sufficient. *State v. Stein*, 140 Wn. App. 1045, 187 P.3d 271 (2008). To show actual prejudice, a defendant can show that either his right to speedy trial or his right to have adequately prepared counsel was jeopardized by the State's mismanagement. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

The trial court found that the mismanagement was prejudicial to

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