No. 48235-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appellant

vs.

RICKO FERNANDEZ EASTERLING

Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KITSAP COUNTY
The Honorable William Houser
Superior Court No. 15-1-00127-1

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

MARK W. MUENSTER, WSBA #11228
1010 Esther Street
Vancouver, WA 98660
(360) 694-5085

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by ordering the dismissal of the information due to government misconduct/mismanagement pursuant to CrR 8.3 (b) based upon the late disclosure of the SANE reports.

1. Standard of review of a dismissal under CrR 8.3(b)

A decision by a trial court to dismiss under CrR 8.3 (b)² due to government misconduct or mismanagement is reviewed by this court under the abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009); *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, when it exercises its decision on untenable grounds, or when it makes its decision for untenable reasons. *Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d at 830, 845 P.2d 1017.). A decision is based on untenable grounds “if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard.” *State v. Lewis*, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298-99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990) Even if there is an abuse of discretion, the trial

exculpatory in that the jury could determine that there is a reason to doubt the allegation of E[KK] and, therefore, doubt all of the allegations pending against Mr. Easterling.”

² CrR 8.3 (b) provides as follows:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused’s right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

court's CrR 8.3(b) dismissal of the charges should be affirmed if the reviewing court finds that the defendant proved sufficient grounds. *State v Lewis, supra, State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239-242, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

The state concedes here that the trial court applied the correct legal standard for a dismissal under CrR 8.3 (b). It correctly notes that the trial court found that Mr. Easterling had to show two things: (1) government misconduct or mismanagement and (2) prejudice that affected his right to a fair trial. Appellant's brief at 9. The state claims, however, that no reasonable judge would have dismissed the information against Mr. Easterling. For the reasons that follow, this argument should be rejected, and the trial court's order of dismissal affirmed by this court.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the late provision of the SANE reports constituted government misconduct or mismanagement.

The state has not assigned error to any of the findings of fact by the trial court. RAP 10.3(g). They should thus be considered verities on appeal. *State v. Link*, 136 Wn. App. 685, 150 P.3d 610 (2006); *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 733, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). The court found that Harrison Hospital was the only provider of SANE exams in Kitsap County. The court found that neither law enforcement nor the prosecutor had made any inquiry to determine whether a SANE exam had taken place until the trial had actually begun. The court found that defense counsel had inquired several times, including in open court, about whether the

complaining witnesses had undergone SANE exams. The prosecutor had always indicated, again without any inquiry, that there was no SANE exam. It was against this factual backdrop that the trial court drew the legal conclusion that government misconduct or mismanagement had occurred. CP 57.

To support a finding of governmental misconduct or mismanagement, Mr. Easterling does not have to show any evil intent on the part of the prosecution. Simple mismanagement by the prosecution is sufficient. *State v. Sulgrove*, 19 Wn. App 860, 863, 578 P.2d 74 (1978); *State v. Dailey*, 93 Wn. 2d 454, 457, 610 P.2d 357 (1980). The prosecution team's failure to discover and disclose the routine SANE report was clearly governmental mismanagement.

The trial court correctly concluded that the prosecutor had the obligation to search for exculpatory evidence in the hands of others who are working on the government's behalf, including the police. *Kyles v. Whitely*, 514 U.S. 419, 437, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed. 2d 490 (1995). The duty discussed by *Kyles v. Whitely* derives from the state's duty to disclose exculpatory evidence in its hands to the defense, which helps safeguard a defendant's due process right to a fair trial. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed. 2d 215 (1963). The prosecutor also has a duty to attempt to obtain material held by others which would be discoverable if it were directly in the hands of the prosecutor. CrR 4.7 (d). The trial court also correctly concluded that

Harrison Hospital was working on the government's behalf when conducting SANE exams under the existing investigation protocols. CP 54. Since the defense had been asking for the results of any SANE exams, and it was well known to the prosecutor that such exams were routinely conducted by Harrison Hospital, it was not unreasonable for the court to conclude that the prosecutor had an obligation to independently and accurately determine whether or not an exam had taken place. It was governmental mismanagement for the prosecutor to wait until the trial began to directly inquire of the hospital about the examinations. Consequently, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to arrive at this conclusion.

The prosecutor argues that since Harrison Hospital was not a state agency, nor an arm of the prosecutor's office, there was no duty on the part of the prosecutor to determine whether a SANE exam had taken place. The prosecutor attempts to foist responsibility for the non-disclosure of the exam results on the lead detective, who apparently but erroneously assured him that there had been no SANE exam. However, neither the prosecutor nor the police detective actually inquired about the tests until the trial had begun, despite repeated requests by defense counsel to check into this issue. Given the fact that Harrison Hospital was the only agency in Kitsap County to do such exams, and the fact that Harrison Hospital regularly and routinely provided such test results, it was governmental mismanagement for the prosecutor or his agents to fail to

make inquiry into this matter. Simple mismanagement is sufficient to support a dismissal order under CrR 8.3 (b). *State v. Sulgrove, supra; State v. Dailey, supra.*

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the late provision of the SANE reports prejudiced Mr. Easterling's right to a fair trial.

The trial court concluded that the late provision of the SANE reports after the trial had begun prejudiced Mr. Easterling's right to a fair trial. As the trial court correctly noted, CP 56, such prejudice includes the right to a speedy trial, and the right to be represented by counsel who has an adequate opportunity to prepare the defense. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d at 240, 937 P.2d 587 ; see also *State v. Price*, 94 Wn. 2d 810, 814, 620 P.2d 994 (1980).

The trial court noted that Mr. Easterling was in custody at the time of the trial in October of 2015, and had been in custody since his arrest in March of 2015. The speedy trial deadline under CrR 3.3 was October 8, 2015. Because of the government's mismanagement of its discovery obligations, Mr. Easterling faced a serious dilemma. He could either give up his right to have a speedy trial, or give up his right to have counsel who was adequately prepared to exploit the newfound weaknesses of the state's evidence. The trial court's conclusion that Mr. Easterling had been prejudiced by the state's mismanagement was supported by the record, and was not an abuse of its discretion.

The state argues that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Mr. Easterling was prejudiced by its mismanagement of the case. Appellant's brief at pp. 15-20. The state correctly concedes that a defendant demonstrates actual prejudice when either his right to speedy trial or his right to an adequately prepared lawyer is jeopardized by the state's mismanagement, citing *Michielli, supra*. Appellant's brief at 15. As noted above, both were jeopardized here by the state's mismanagement of the case.

At its root, the state's argument hinges on the premise that the late provision of the SANE exams would not have affected defense counsel's preparation or presentation of the defense case. This argument should be rejected.

The trial judge characterized the results of the exam as "exculpatory." CP 56. This conclusion is well justified. A reasonable doubt can be based on evidence or lack of evidence. WPIC 4.01. The exam results provided evidence which strongly suggested no anal intercourse had taken place, and would cast doubt on the credibility of the complaining witness whose exam it was. But in addition, defense counsel would need time to prepare the cross-examination of the SANE nurse, both by consulting with an expert of his own, and by obtaining transcripts of previous testimony of the SANE nurse, which he believed were available. His opening statement, which was skeletal at best, would have undoubtedly featured some discussion of the physical exam. Due to the

late provision of this crucial piece of evidence, defense counsel would not have been prepared for trial without the opportunity to further investigate and effectively utilize the exculpatory evidence of the SANE exam. Mr. Easterling's only alternative to having prepared counsel would be to sacrifice the right to a speedy trial, and to spend additional weeks or months in custody. The trial court's conclusion that prejudice had been shown as a result of the government's mismanagement is amply justified by the record. There was no abuse of discretion in dismissing the case.

A comparison with similar cases in Washington involving dismissals under CrR 8.3 (b) is instructive.

In *State v Michielli, supra*, the prosecutor added four new charges just five days before the case was scheduled to go to trial. These new charges were added three and a half months after the filing of the original information, and forced Michielli to choose between his right to a speedy trial, or his right to prepared defense counsel. As the Supreme Court noted, "being forced to waive [the] speedy trial right is not a trivial event." *Michielli* at 245. The court upheld the dismissal of charges based on the state's mismanagement of the case, and the resulting prejudice to the defendant's right to a fair trial.

In *State v. Teems*, 89 Wn.App. 385, 948 P.2d 1336 (1997), the defendant's first trial resulted in a mistrial, and Teem's appointed lawyer withdrew from the case. After waiting 40 days from the mistrial to refile the information, the prosecutor provided notice solely to the lawyer who

had withdrawn. That lawyer did not notify Teems. As a result, Teems had no knowledge of the State's decision to re-try him until August 29, 1996. The court could not reappoint the first lawyer, and had to assign an attorney who was unfamiliar with the case. Teems was unwilling to waive his speedy trial rights, and his newly appointed lawyer shared his belief that 12 days to prepare for a felony defense was inadequate for the lawyer to familiarize himself with the entire case. The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision to dismiss based on government mismanagement, and the prejudice that resulted from the choice of either waiving speedy trial or having an unprepared lawyer.

In *State v. Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009), both defendants (husband and wife) were accused of burglary, and were in custody while the case was pending. The state was late several times in complying with the court's orders to provide discovery. The court granted continuances of the trial to allow both defense counsel to acquire the discovery and do more investigation based upon it. Ultimately, both defendants moved to dismiss under CrR 8.3 (b) and the court granted the motions. The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissals, based upon the showing of government mismanagement in the provision of discovery, and the prejudice that resulted between the choice of speedy trial for two incarcerated defendants versus having fully prepared defense counsel.³

³The court also rejected the state's argument that the trial court should have considered other alternatives to dismissal, noting that the state only proposed alternatives other than a continuance after the trial court had determined to dismiss the two cases.

In *State v. Sherman*, 59 Wn.App. 763, 801 P.2d 274 (1990), the defendant was originally charged with one count of theft. The state filed an amended information eight days before trial which subdivided the one count into five counts covering the same time period. By the time of the trial, the state had not provided discovery which it had been ordered to produce and also attempted to expand its witness list. The defense moved to dismiss and the trial court granted the motion. The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal, holding that the late provision of discovery constituted government mismanagement under CrR 8.3 (b) and that prejudice had been shown because the defendant, like Mr. Easterling, would have to choose between the right to speedy trial, and the right to have counsel prepared for a trial. The court quoted from *State v. Price supra*:

We agree that if the State inexcusably fails to act with due diligence, and material facts are thereby not disclosed to defendant until shortly before a crucial stage in the litigation process, it is possible either a defendant's right to a speedy trial, or his right to be represented by counsel who has had sufficient opportunity to adequately prepare a material part of his defense, may be impermissibly prejudiced. Such unexcused conduct by the State cannot force a defendant to choose between these rights.

In circumstances such as these, we do not believe a defendant should be asked to choose between two constitutional rights in order to accommodate the State's lack of diligence. (Emphasis added.)

Sherman, supra, 59 Wn. App. 770 quoting *Price* at 94 Wn. 2d at 814.

In *State v. Stephans*, 47 Wn.App. 600, 736 P.2d 302 (1987), the defendant charged with several sex offenses, and was in custody from

October until his case was dismissed in April. The basis of the dismissal was the state's failure to provide interviews with the complaining witnesses and interference with that process by what the court characterized as "egregiously bad" advice to the parents of the witnesses. The trial court ultimately granted a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3 (b) based on the government's mismanagement of the case, and the resultant prejudice to the defendant, who was, like Mr. Easterling and the other defendants in the cases noted above, essentially forced to choose between the right to a speedy trial, and the right to a trial with prepared counsel. The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of the charges, finding no abuse of the trial court's discretion.

The collected cases outlined above demonstrate that the trial judge here was well within the reasonable limits of his discretion in dismissing the information here based on the misconduct/mismanagement by the government in this case, which clearly prejudiced Mr. Easterling's right to a fair trial.

4. The trial court correctly considered other remedies when deciding what action to take based upon the government's misconduct/mismanagement.

The trial court's oral decision and written order reflect that it considered other remedies before determining to dismiss the information. The court considered the idea of a recess of the trial, but rejected it as impractical because of the need to keep the jury's lives on hold, and because the recess would necessarily have to be long enough for the

defense to do further investigation on the government's witness and consult with an expert witness of its own.⁴ The court also noted that the defense opening statement had already been affected by not having the information about the SANE exam. The court also considered and rejected declaring a mistrial. While this would alleviate the problem of having a trial with unprepared counsel, it would require Mr. Easterling to remain in custody and forfeit his right to a speedy trial.⁵ Finally, the court considered and rejected the possibility of dismissing only the counts which related to the girl with the normal SANE exam. As the court's order noted, the interplay of the two sets of charges made this an impractical choice as well. CP 59.

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